**J**HEP\_

Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: February 24, 2012 ACCEPTED: May 25, 2012 PUBLISHED: June 6, 2012

# Aspects of holography for theories with hyperscaling violation

# Xi Dong, Sarah Harrison, Shamit Kachru, Gonzalo Torroba and Huajia Wang

Stanford Institute for Theoretical Physics, Department of Physics, Stanford University, Stanford, CA 94305, U.S.A. Theory Group, SLAC National Accelerator Laboratory, Menlo Park, CA 94309, U.S.A. E-mail: xidong@stanford.edu, sarharr@stanford.edu,

skachru@stanford.edu, torrobag@slac.stanford.edu, huajiaw@stanford.edu

ABSTRACT: We analyze various aspects of the recently proposed holographic theories with general dynamical critical exponent z and hyperscaling violation exponent  $\theta$ . We first find the basic constraints on  $z, \theta$  from the gravity side, and compute the stress-energy tensor expectation values and scalar two-point functions. Massive correlators exhibit a nontrivial exponential behavior at long distances, controlled by  $\theta$ . At short distance, the two-point functions become power-law, with a universal form for  $\theta > 0$ . Next, the calculation of the holographic entanglement entropy reveals the existence of novel phases which violate the area law. The entropy in these phases has a behavior that interpolates between that of a Fermi surface and that exhibited by systems with extensive entanglement entropy. Finally, we describe microscopic embeddings of some  $\theta \neq 0$  metrics into full string theory models — these metrics characterize large regions of the parameter space of Dp-brane metrics for  $p \neq 3$ . For instance, the theory of N D2-branes in IIA supergravity has z = 1 and  $\theta = -1/3$  over a wide range of scales, at large  $g_s N$ .

KEYWORDS: Gauge-gravity correspondence, Holography and condensed matter physics (AdS/CMT), D-branes

ARXIV EPRINT: 1201.1905

# Contents

1	Introduction Holographic theories with hyperscaling violation		2
<b>2</b>			4
	2.1	Metrics with scale covariance	4
	2.2	Constraints from the null energy condition	6
	2.3	Massive propagators	7
	2.4	Holographic energy-momentum tensor	9
3	Dynamics of scalar operators		11
	3.1	Scalar field solution	11
	3.2	Massless case	11
	3.3	Massive case: a scaling argument	12
	3.4	Some special cases	13
		3.4.1 The case $\theta = d$	13
		3.4.2 The case $\theta = d/2$	13
4	Entanglement entropy		14
	4.1	General analysis	14
		4.1.1 General entanglement regions	15
		4.1.2 Using trial surfaces	17
	4.2	Entanglement entropy with hyperscaling violation	17
	4.3	Novel phases with $d - 1 < \theta < d$	18
	4.4	Extremizing the entanglement entropy	19
5	Thermodynamics		20
	5.1	Gravitational background at finite temperature	20
	5.2	Entanglement entropy and cross-over to thermal entropy	22
6	String theory realizations		23
	6.1	Black-brane solutions	23
	6.2	(p+2)-dimensional effective theory and hyperscaling violation	25
7	Fut	ure directions	26
$\mathbf{A}$	Me	tric properties	27
в	Ma	ssive propagators for general geodesics	28

#### 1 Introduction

Holography [1, 2] is a powerful tool to study strongly interacting large N quantum field theories [3–6]. In the holographic context, a d (spatial) dimensional quantum field theory is mapped to a higher-dimensional (usually (d+2)-dimensional) gravitational theory, with the (d+1) "field theory dimensions" arising as the boundary of the space-time. While the initial interest in concrete examples centered on applications to AdS gravity theories and their conformal field theory duals, the class of metrics of interest in gauge/gravity duality has been considerably enlarged in recent years. One simple generalisation is to consider metrics which can be dual to scale-invariant field theories which are, however, not conformally invariant, but instead enjoy a dynamical critical exponent  $z \neq 1$  (with z = 1reducing to the case of the AdS metric):

$$ds^{2} = -\frac{1}{r^{2z}}dt^{2} + \frac{1}{r^{2}}(dr^{2} + dx_{i}^{2}) . \qquad (1.1)$$

These metrics are invariant under the scaling

$$t \to \lambda^z t, \ x_i \to \lambda x_i, \ r \to \lambda r$$
 (1.2)

They arise as exact solutions of simple gravity theories coupled to appropriate matter [7, 8], with the simplest such theory also including an abelian gauge field in the bulk. This simple generalisation of AdS is motivated by consideration of gravity toy models of condensed matter systems (where Lorentz invariance needn't emerge in the deep infrared, and e.g. doping with charge density can naturally lead to  $z \neq 1$ ).<sup>1</sup> Such metrics have also been found as solutions in string theory, and supergravities which arise simply from string constructions, in [11–18].

More recently, it has been realized that by studying systems including a scalar "dilaton" in the bulk, one can find even larger classes of scaling metrics. Such theories have been studied in e.g. [19–32] (with very similar metrics also characterizing the "electron stars" studied in e.g. [33–35]). By including both an abelian gauge field and the scalar dilaton, one can in particular engineer the full class of metrics [23]

$$ds_{d+2}^2 = r^{-2(d-\theta)/d} \left( -r^{-2(z-1)}dt^2 + dr^2 + dx_i^2 \right) .$$
(1.3)

These exhibit both a dynamical critical exponent z and a "hyperscaling violation" exponent  $\theta$  [37], as emphasized in [31]. This metric is not scale invariant, but transforms as

$$ds \to \lambda^{\theta/d} ds$$
 (1.4)

under the scale-transformation (1.2). Very roughly speaking, in a theory with hyperscaling violation, the thermodynamic behaviour is as if the theory enjoyed dynamical exponent z but lived in  $d - \theta$  dimensions; dimensional analysis is restored because such theories typically have a dimensionful scale that *does not decouple in the infrared*, and below which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>An alternative class of non-relativistic scaling metrics characterizing the so-called Schrödinger spacetimes, which may also have condensed matter applications, was discussed in [9, 10].

such behaviour emerges. One can then use appropriate powers of this scale — which will be denoted by  $r_F$  — to restore naive dimensional analysis. As emphasized in [31], building on the stimulating explorations in [30], the case  $\theta = d - 1$  is a promising gravitational representation of a theory with a Fermi surface in terms of its leading large Nthermodynamic behaviour. In this example, the relevant dimensionful scale is of course the Fermi momentum.

In this paper we characterize strongly coupled quantum field theories with hyperscaling violation using holography. In general, the metric (1.3) may not be a good description above the dynamical scale  $r_F$ .<sup>2</sup> For this reason, in this work we will not assume (1.3) all the way to the boundary, but instead we will follow an 'effective' holographic approach in which the dual theory lives on a finite r slice. This is similar to an effective field theory analysis in the dual QFT. This has been put on a firmer footing for asymptotically AdS spacetimes in [36].

First, we discuss the most basic holographic features of this class of metrics: the constraints on  $(z, \theta)$  that follow from energy conditions in the bulk, the behavior of propagators for bulk fields (and the consequent behavior of correlation functions of scalar operators in the dual field theories), and the behavior of the stress-energy tensor. Our analysis reveals intriguing properties of correlation functions in these theories. In a semiclassical approximation, a massive scalar has a correlation function of the form

$$G(\Delta x) \sim \exp\left(-c_{\theta} \frac{m}{\theta} |\Delta x|^{\theta/d}\right)$$
 (1.5)

at spacelike separations (where  $c_{\theta} > 0$  is a constant). We note the nontrivial  $|\Delta x|^{\theta/d}$  dependence, as compared to a weakly coupled massive propagator,  $G(\Delta) \sim \exp(-m|\Delta x|)$ . On the other hand, away from the semiclassical limit (i.e. at small masses/short distances), there is a cross-over to a power-law behavior, and the propagator becomes<sup>3</sup>

$$G(\Delta x) \sim \frac{1}{|\Delta x|^{2(d+1)-\theta}}.$$
(1.6)

That is, there is a universal  $\theta$ -dependent power law, independent of m.

In another direction, we systematically study the entanglement entropy properties of the dual field theories. In recent years, studies of entanglement entropy have come to the fore as a new technique for understanding and perhaps classifying novel phases of quantum field theory [38]. In general, the entanglement between a region A and its complement in a quantum field theory in its ground state in d spatial dimensions, is expected to scale as the *area* of  $\partial A$ , the boundary of the region (with a precise proportionality constant dependent on the UV-cutoff of the field theory) [39, 40]. For the UV-dependent contribution, this scaling simply follows from locality, and has come to be known as the "area law." However, several states which violate the area law have also been discussed. These include d = 1conformal field theories [41], conventional Fermi liquids, which can exhibit logarithmic violation of the area law [42–44], and certain proposed non-Fermi liquid ground states [45].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>For instance, in systems controlled by a UV fixed point, the metric should become scale invariant for  $r \ll r_F$ . Similarly, the hyperscaling violation regime may also be changed in the deep IR if there is an attractive fixed point. We will find string theory examples of these situations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>This assumes  $\theta > 0$ ; see section 3 for more details.

In these systems, the area law - violating terms are *not* cut-off dependent. More generally, sub-leading but cut-off independent terms in the entanglement entropy have proved to be of significant interest — for instance, they can distinguish between states with different topological orders [46, 47].

Ryu and Takayanagi [48] proposed that the entanglement entropy between a region A and its complement in the boundary field theory, can be computed in gravity by finding the area of the minimal surface ending on  $\partial A$  and extending into the bulk geometry (in Planck units). While this proposal is as yet unproven, it has passed many non-trivial tests, and is supported by an impressive amount of circumstantial evidence. Here, we systematically study the entanglement properties of the class of metrics (1.3), over the full range of parameters  $z, \theta$  where they seem to emerge as solutions of a reasonable matter + gravity theory (i.e., one where the required stress-energy sources satisfy reasonable energy conditions). Entanglement properties of subsets of these theories were studied in [30–32], and also in [49], which emphasized the importance of the cross-over between the area law at T = 0 and the thermal entropy. One of the surprises we'll encounter is the existence of a class of theories which violate the area law and have universal terms in the ground-state holographic entanglement entropy that scale parametrically faster than the area of  $\partial A$ (while scaling more slowly than the extensive entanglement entropy expected in a theory with extensive ground-state entropy [49]).

As a third focus, we also discuss the way some  $\theta \neq 0$  metrics arise in a UV-complete theory — string theory. Existing embeddings have been in phenomenological theories of Einstein/Maxwell/dilaton gravity, which are clearly applicable only over some range of scales (as the dilaton is varying, leading one to suspect that the description breaks down both in the deep IR and the far UV). Here, we simply point out that over a wide range of scales, the dilatonic Dp-branes (those with  $p \neq 3$ ) give rise to metrics of the form (1.3) with z = 1 but  $\theta \neq 0.4$  For instance, the large N D2-brane theory, in the IIA supergravity regime, has  $\theta = -1/3$ . The string embedding, together with our knowledge of the properties of Dp-branes, provides a complete understanding of what happens in the far UV and deep IR regions of the phase diagram where "bottom up" descriptions break down [50].

# 2 Holographic theories with hyperscaling violation

We begin by analyzing basic properties of theories with hyperscaling violation using holographic techniques. In this first step, our goal will be to determine two-point functions and the expectation value of the energy-momentum tensor for these field theories. In the following sections we will construct other observables, such as the entanglement entropy, and study finite temperature effects.

# 2.1 Metrics with scale covariance

As we reviewed before, the gravity side is characterized by a metric of the form

$$ds_{d+2}^2 = r^{-2(d-\theta)/d} \left( -r^{-2(z-1)}dt^2 + dr^2 + dx_i^2 \right) \,. \tag{2.1}$$

 $<sup>^{4}</sup>$ After submitting this work, we learned that a discussion which overlaps with our own discussion of non-conformal D-branes appears in [24].

This is the most general metric that is spatially homogeneous and covariant under the scale transformations

$$x_i \to \lambda x_i , t \to \lambda^z t , r \to \lambda r , ds \to \lambda^{\theta/d} ds .$$
 (2.2)

Thus, z plays the role of the dynamical exponent, and  $\theta$  is the hyperscaling violation exponent.

The dual (d + 1)-dimensional field theory lives on a background spacetime identified with a surface of constant r in (2.1). The radial coordinate is related to the energy scale of the dual theory. For example, an object of fixed proper energy  $E_{pr}$  and momentum  $\vec{p}_{pr}$ redshifts according to

$$E(r) = \frac{1}{r^{z-\theta/d}} E_{pr} , \ \vec{p}(r) = \frac{1}{r^{1-\theta/d}} \vec{p}_{pr} .$$
(2.3)

When  $\theta \leq dz$  and  $\theta < d, r \to 0$  (the boundary of (2.1)) describes the UV of the dual QFT. Clearly, different probes give different energy-radius relations, as in AdS/CFT [52]. For instance, a string of fixed tension in the (d + 2)-dimensional theory has  $E \propto 1/r^{z-2\theta/d}$ . Probe scalar fields will be discussed in section 3.

Before proceeding, it is important to point out that the metric (2.1) will only give a good description of the dual theory in a certain range of r, and there could be important corrections for  $r \to 0$  or very large r. Outside the range with hyperscaling violation, but assuming spatial and time translation symmetries and spatial rotation invariance, the metric will be of the more general form

$$ds_{d+2}^2 = e^{2A(r)} \left( -e^{2B(r)} dt^2 + dr^2 + dx_i^2 \right) .$$
(2.4)

An important situation corresponds to a field theory that starts from a UV fixed point and then develops a scaling violation exponent  $\theta$  at long-distances. This means that the gravity side warp factor  $e^{2A} \rightarrow R^2/r^2$  for  $r \rightarrow 0$  (with R the AdS radius) and that below a cross-over scale  $r_F$  it behaves as in (2.1). This scale then appears in the metric as an overall factor  $ds^2 \propto R^2/r_F^{2\theta/d}$ , and is responsible for restoring the canonical dimensions in the presence of hyperscaling violation.<sup>5</sup> Finally, at scales  $r \gg r_F$  the theory may flow to some other fixed point, develop a mass gap etc., and (2.1) would again no longer be valid. String theory examples that exhibit these flows will be presented in section 6. For now we will simply ignore these corrections and focus on the form (2.1), keeping in mind that it may be valid only in a certain window of energies. We follow an 'effective' approach where the dual theory is taken to live at finite r of order  $r_F$ .

In order to understand the metric properties of this class of spacetimes, notice that (2.1) is conformally equivalent to a Lifshitz geometry, as can be seen after a Weyl rescaling  $g_{\mu\nu} \rightarrow \tilde{g}_{\mu\nu} = \Omega^2 g_{\mu\nu}$ , with  $\Omega = r^{-\theta/d}$ . (The scale-invariant limit is  $\theta = 0$ , which reduces to a Lifshitz solution.) Since a Lifshitz metric has constant curvature, the scalar curvature associated to (2.1) acquires r-dependent terms controlled by the derivative of the Weyl factor  $\Omega$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>For instance, in models with a Fermi surface,  $r_F$  is set by the Fermi momentum [30].

The appendix contains the Ricci and Einstein tensors for the general class of metrics (2.4). In particular, the Ricci tensor for the metrics (2.1) is given by

$$R_{tt} = \frac{(d+z-\theta)(dz-\theta)}{dr^{2z}}$$

$$R_{rr} = \frac{-d(d+z^2) + (d+z)\theta}{dr^2}$$

$$R_{ij} = -\delta_{ij}\frac{(d-\theta)(d+z-\theta)}{dr^2}.$$
(2.5)

The scalar curvature is then  $R \propto r^{-2\theta/d}$ , which becomes constant for  $\theta = 0$  as expected.

#### 2.2 Constraints from the null energy condition

What types of constraints should we impose on (2.1) in order to get a physically sensible dual field theory? Quite generally, from the gravity side we should demand at least that the null energy condition (NEC) be satisfied. That is, we impose

$$T_{\mu\nu}N^{\mu}N^{\nu} \ge 0 \tag{2.6}$$

on the Einstein equations, where  $N^{\mu}N_{\mu} = 0$ . Since  $G_{\mu\nu} = T_{\mu\nu}$  on-shell, from (2.5) the constraints from the NEC become<sup>6</sup>

$$(d-\theta) (d(z-1)-\theta) \ge 0$$
  
(z-1)(d+z-\theta) \ge 0. (2.7)

The constraints (2.7) have important consequences for the allowed values of  $(z, \theta)$  that admit a consistent gravity dual. First, in a Lorentz invariant theory, z = 1 and then the first inequality implies that  $\theta \leq 0$  or  $\theta \geq d$ . Both ranges will be realized in the string theory constructions of section 6. On the other hand, for a scale invariant theory ( $\theta = 0$ ), we recover the known result  $z \geq 1$ .

Theories with  $\theta = d - 1$  are of interest since they give holographic realizations of theories with several of the properties of Fermi surfaces [30, 31]. The NEC then requires that the dynamical exponent satisfies

$$z \ge 2 - 1/d \,, \tag{2.8}$$

in order to have a consistent gravity description. More generally, in section 4 we will find that for systems with

$$d-1 \le \theta \le d \,, \tag{2.9}$$

the entanglement entropy exhibits new violations of the area law. These cases can be realized for a dynamical exponent that satisfies  $z \ge 1-\theta/d$ . The limit  $\theta = d$  will correspond to an extensive violation of the entanglement entropy, and requires  $z \ge 1$  or  $z \le 0$ .

$$N^{t} = , \ N^{r} = e^{-A} \cos \varphi \ , \ N^{i} = e^{-A} \sin \varphi,$$

where  $\varphi = 0$  or  $\pi/2$ .

 $<sup>^{6}</sup>$ For the general metric (2.4), the two independent null vectors are

Notice that in theories with hyperscaling violation the NEC can be satisfied for z < 1, while this range of dynamical exponents is forbidden if  $\theta = 0$  [53]. In particular,  $\{z < 0, \theta > d\}$  gives a consistent solution to (2.7), as well as  $\{0 < z < 1, \theta \ge d + z\}$ . Notice that, just based on the NEC, the range  $\theta > d$  is allowed. Clearly more information is needed to determine whether the above choices lead to physically consistent theories — in particular we will argue below that  $\theta > d$  leads to instabilities in the gravity side. In what follows we continue this analysis using holographic techniques to calculate correlation functions, entanglement entropy and thermal effects. It would also be interesting to derive conditions for the existence of these theories directly in the field theory side.

# 2.3 Massive propagators

The next step is to calculate two-point functions  $\langle \mathcal{O}(x)\mathcal{O}(x')\rangle$ , where  $\mathcal{O}$  is some operator in the dual theory. We will consider an operator that can be described by a scalar field in the bulk. The simplest correlation functions correspond to massive propagators in the bulk, since in the semiclassical approximation this is given in terms of the geodesic distance traveled by a particle of mass m. In AdS/CFT, massive bulk propagators give power-law CFT Green's functions because of the r-dependent warp factor. The geodesic distance is minimized by moving into the bulk, and this turns an exponential into a power-law; see e.g. [54].

Let us now calculate correlation functions in the semiclassical approximation, for the class of metric (2.1), in the range  $\theta \leq d$ . The full correlator away from the semiclassical limit will be studied in section 3. The particle geodesic describing the semiclassical trajectory is obtained by extremizing the action

$$S = -m \int d\lambda \, r^{-(d-\theta)/d} \sqrt{-r^{-2(z-1)}\dot{t}^2 + \dot{r}^2 + \dot{x}^2} \tag{2.10}$$

where  $\lambda$  is the worldline coordinate and a 'dot' denotes a derivative with respect to  $\lambda$ . The propagator between  $x = (t, x_i)$  and  $x' = (t', x'_i)$  on a fixed  $r = \epsilon$  surface is then given by

$$G_{\epsilon}(x, x') \sim e^{S(x, x')} \tag{2.11}$$

with the conditions  $(x(0) = x, r(0) = \epsilon)$  and  $(x(1) = x', r(1) = \epsilon)$ . Because of time and space translation invariance, the propagator only depends on  $\Delta t \equiv t' - t$  and  $\Delta x_i = x'_i - x_i$ . Here the cutoff  $\epsilon \sim r_F$ , but otherwise it is left unspecified.

Consider first the case of spacelike propagation, with  $\Delta t = 0$ . Choosing  $\lambda = r$  gives

$$S = -m \int dr \, r^{-(d-\theta)/d} \sqrt{1 + (dx/dr)^2} \,. \tag{2.12}$$

Since the momentum conjugate to x is conserved, the equation of motion is integrated to

$$\frac{dx}{dr} = \frac{(r/r_t)^{(d-\theta)/d}}{\sqrt{1 - (r/r_t)^{2(d-\theta)/d}}}.$$
(2.13)

Here  $r_t$  is the turning point for the geodesic,  $dr/dx|_{r=r_t} = 0$ . It is related to  $\Delta x$  by integrating (2.13):

$$\frac{|\Delta x|}{2} = \frac{\sqrt{\pi} \Gamma\left(\frac{2d-\theta}{2(d-\theta)}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2(d-\theta)}\right)} r_t \,. \tag{2.14}$$

Plugging (2.13) into (2.10), we obtain the geodesic distance

$$S = \frac{2d}{\theta} m \,\epsilon^{\theta/d} - \frac{d}{\theta} c_{\theta,d} \, m \, |\Delta x|^{\theta/d} \,, \tag{2.15}$$

where we have neglected higher powers of  $\epsilon$  and defined

$$c_{\theta,d} \equiv \left(\frac{2\sqrt{\pi}\,\Gamma\left(\frac{2d-\theta}{2(d-\theta)}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2(d-\theta)}\right)}\right)^{(d-\theta)/d}.$$
(2.16)

Thus, the propagator in the semiclassical approximation becomes

$$G_{\epsilon}(\Delta x) \sim \exp\left[\frac{2d}{\theta} m \epsilon^{\theta/d}\right] \exp\left[-\frac{d}{\theta} c_{\theta,d} m |\Delta x|^{\theta/d}\right].$$
 (2.17)

The approximation holds in the regime

$$m \left| \Delta x \right|^{\theta/d} \gg 1 \,, \tag{2.18}$$

in units of the cross-over scale  $r_F$ .

As a check, in the scale-invariant limit  $\theta = 0$ , the integrals for  $r_t$  and S give logarithms instead of powers, and we should replace  $\epsilon^{\theta/d}/(\theta/d) \to \log \epsilon$  (and similarly for  $r_t$ ). Then

$$G_{\epsilon}(\Delta x) \sim \exp\left[m\log\frac{\epsilon}{|\Delta x|}\right] \sim \frac{\epsilon^m}{|\Delta x|^m},$$
 (2.19)

reproducing the expected CFT power-law behavior.

The correlator (2.17) reveals interesting properties about the dual field theory with hyperscaling violation in the WKB regime. First, it has an exponential (rather than powerlaw) dependence on  $|\Delta x|$ , showing that the dual theory is massive, with a nontrivial RG evolution — at least for operators dual to massive scalars. However, the usual weakly coupled decay ~ exp( $-|\Delta x|$ ) is now replaced by a nontrivial  $\theta$ -dependent exponent. For  $\theta > 0$  the propagator decays exponentially at large distances with an exponent  $|\Delta x|^{\theta/d}$ . For  $\theta < 0$  the propagator appears to approach a constant value at large distances, but it is outside the regime (2.18) where the semiclassical approximation is valid.<sup>7</sup>

Anticipating our results of section 3, we point out that away from the semiclassical limit (or more generally for operators dual to massless scalars) the propagators do exhibit power-law behavior, with a power that includes a shift by  $\theta$ .

So far our calculations have been for a spacelike geodesic; similar computations lead to the correlator for a timelike path, now with nontrivial z dependence. Working in Euclidean time,  $\tau = it$ , the value of the action becomes,

$$S = \frac{2d}{\theta} m \epsilon^{\theta/d} - m \left(\frac{dz}{\theta}\right)^{\theta/dz} \tilde{c}_{d,\theta,z} |\Delta \tau|^{\theta/dz}, \qquad (2.20)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>In the string theory realizations of section 6, the theories with  $\theta < 0$  eventually exit the regime with hyperscaling violation, modifying this propagator behavior.

where

$$\tilde{c}_{d,\theta,z} = \left(\frac{(z-\theta/d)\Gamma\left(\frac{z}{2(z-\theta/d)}\right)}{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{\theta/d}{2(z-\theta/d)}\right)}\right)^{\theta/dz-1}.$$
(2.21)

This is valid in the range  $0 < \theta/d < z$ . We see that for the case z = 1, this reduces to the solution for the spacelike geodesic. The propagator for a timelike path is

$$G_{\epsilon}(\Delta \tau) \sim \exp\left[\frac{2d}{\theta} m \,\epsilon^{\theta/d}\right] \exp\left[-\left(\frac{dz}{\theta}\right)^{\theta/dz} \tilde{c}_{d,\theta,z} \, m \left|\Delta \tau\right|^{\theta/dz}\right] \tag{2.22}$$

in the regime where

$$m|\Delta\tau|^{\theta/dz} \gg 1. \tag{2.23}$$

The propagator for an arbitrary geodesic is in general a function of both  $|\Delta x|$  and  $|\Delta \tau|$ . Now that we have discussed the two specific extremes, we briefly discuss the general solution. The differential equations cannot be solved analytically for arbitrary  $d, \theta, z$ , but can in principle be solved numerically for specific values of the critical exponents. We outline this procedure in appendix B.

#### 2.4 Holographic energy-momentum tensor

Another important object that characterizes the dual QFT is the expectation value of the energy-momentum tensor. It contains information about the number of degrees of freedom (e.g. the central charge in a 2d theory) and other conformal anomalies. In order to calculate the stress tensor, we need a method that can be applied locally to a radial slice, and which does not assume an asymptotic AdS structure — after all, the metric (2.1) may give a good description of the QFT only in an open range of radial scales. An adequate method for this case is to compute the Brown-York stress tensor [55] on a radial slice, and identify it with the expectation value of the energy-momentum tensor in the dual theory [56-59].<sup>8</sup>

The basic idea is as follows. Consider a hypersurface of constant  $r = r_c$  and let  $n_{\mu}$  be the unit normal vector to this timelike surface. For us,  $r_c \sim \mathcal{O}(r_F)$ . The induced metric is

$$\gamma_{\mu\nu} = g_{\mu\nu} - n_{\mu}n_{\nu} \,, \tag{2.24}$$

and the extrinsic curvature is given by

$$K_{\mu\nu} = -\gamma_{\mu}{}^{\rho}\nabla_{\rho}n_{\nu} \,. \tag{2.25}$$

Since  $r_c$  will be taken to be finite (for instance, of order of the cross-over scale), counterterms and regularization issues will be ignored. Then the quasilocal stress tensor [55] is

$$\tau_{\mu\nu} = K_{\mu\nu} - \gamma_{\mu\nu} K^{\rho}_{\ \rho} \,, \tag{2.26}$$

ignoring a dimensionful constant.

 $<sup>^{8}\</sup>mathrm{This}$  has been recently applied to de Sitter and FRW solutions, which naturally have a radial cutoff, in [60].

The AdS/CFT correspondence relates the expectation value of the stress tensor  $\langle T_{\mu\nu} \rangle$ in the dual theory to the limit of the quasilocal stress tensor  $\tau_{\mu\nu}$  as  $r_c \to 0$  (the boundary):

$$\sqrt{-h}h^{\mu\rho}\langle T_{\rho\nu}\rangle = \lim_{r_c \to 0} \sqrt{-\gamma}\gamma^{\mu\rho}\tau_{\rho\nu}, \qquad (2.27)$$

where  $h_{\mu\nu}$  is the background QFT metric, which is related to  $\gamma_{\mu\nu}$  by a conformal transformation. Our proposal is to extend this relation to metrics of the form (2.1) at finite r, and use  $\tau_{\mu\nu}$  to determine  $\langle T_{\mu\nu} \rangle$ .

A radial slice at  $r = r_c$  has an induced metric

$$\gamma_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} = r_c^{-2(d-\theta)/d} \left( -r_c^{-2(z-1)}dt^2 + dx_i^2 \right) , \qquad (2.28)$$

and the background QFT metric is given by  $h_{\mu\nu} = r_c^{2(d-\theta)/d} \gamma_{\mu\nu}$ . Let us first consider for simplicity the Lorentz invariant case. A metric of the form

$$ds^{2} = dw^{2} + h(w)^{2} \eta_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\mu}$$
(2.29)

has extrinsic curvature  $K_{\mu\nu} = -h(w)\partial_w h(w) \eta_{\mu\nu}$  at constant w. Applying this to our case and using (2.27) obtains

$$\langle T_{\mu\nu} \rangle = -\frac{d-\theta}{r_c^{d+1-\theta}} h_{\mu\nu} \,. \tag{2.30}$$

In the more general case of  $z \neq 1$ , we break Lorentz invariance and the nontrivial components of the energy-momentum tensor can be determined as

$$\langle T_{00} \rangle = -\frac{d-\theta}{r_c^{d+1-\theta}} h_{00} , \quad \langle T_{ij} \rangle = -\frac{zd-\theta}{r_c^{d+1-\theta}} h_{ij} .$$

$$(2.31)$$

In a (d+1)-dimensional CFT, the energy-momentum tensor is an operator of conformal weight d + 1, so we expect  $\langle T_{\mu\nu} \rangle \sim h_{\mu\nu}/r_c^{d+1}$ . More precisely, a nonvanishing one-point function is obtained by placing the CFT on a curved background of constant curvature, and then  $\langle T_{\mu\nu} \rangle \sim h_{\mu\nu}/R^{d+1}$  with R the curvature radius. Obtaining this from the gravity side requires adding counterterms and taking the limit  $r_c \to 0$ . Here we are working at finite  $r_c$  and we ignore these subtraction terms, since in general the metric with hyperscaling violation is not valid near the boundary.

Hyperscaling violation has then the effect of shifting the energy-momentum tensor onepoint function to  $h_{\mu\nu}/r_c^{d+1-\theta}$ . A similar result will be obtained in correlators of marginal operators below. From this point of view, a possible interpretation is that  $\theta$  reflects a nonzero scaling dimension for the vacuum.<sup>9</sup> However, the effects of  $\theta$  in the field theory are probably more complicated than just a universal shift in the vacuum. We will return to these points in section 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>We thank S. Shenker for interesting remarks along these lines.

# **3** Dynamics of scalar operators

Having understood the basic properties of holographic theories with hyperscaling violation, in this section we study in detail operators that are described by bulk scalar fields with action

$$S = -\frac{1}{2} \int d^{d+2}x \sqrt{g} \left( g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi + m^2 \phi^2 \right) \,. \tag{3.1}$$

In particular, we will analyze two-point functions valid for arbitrary (not necessarily large) mass m, where the WKB approximation of section 2.3 is not applicable.

#### 3.1 Scalar field solution

The equation of motion for a scalar field with mass m in the background (2.1) is

$$\left(\partial_r^2 - \frac{d - \theta + z - 1}{r}\partial_r + \partial_i^2 - r^{2(z-1)}\partial_t^2 - \frac{m^2}{r^{2(d-\theta)/d}}\right)\phi = 0.$$
 (3.2)

Let us first consider the behavior of  $\phi$  at small r. Starting from an ansatz  $\phi \sim r^{\alpha}$ , we find that the  $\partial_i$ ,  $\partial_t$ , and  $m^2$  terms are all subdominant at small r if z > 0 and  $\theta > 0$ . In this case, we can solve the equation at leading order in r, which gives  $\alpha = 0$  or  $d - \theta + z$ . This means that when we impose the incoming boundary condition at  $r = \infty$  (or in the Euclidean picture, the regularity condition), the full solution has the following expansion around r = 0:

$$\phi = 1 + \dots + G(\vec{k}, \omega) r^{d-\theta+z} (1 + \dots), \qquad (3.3)$$

where we have Fourier transformed in the t and  $\vec{x}$  directions, and  $\cdots$  refers to higher order terms in r.

The behavior in (3.3) should be contrasted to the case of  $\theta = 0$ , in which the mass term becomes one of the leading contributions, and we are back to the Lifshitz or AdS case of  $\alpha = \frac{d+z}{2} \pm \sqrt{\left(\frac{d+z}{2}\right)^2 + m^2}$ .

The momentum-space two-point function on the boundary for the operator dual to  $\phi$  is given by the coefficient function  $G(\vec{k}, \omega)$  in the expansion above [28]. We will analyze its behavior in the next few subsections, while solving it exactly in a few special cases.

#### 3.2 Massless case

For simplicity we will consider the z = 1 case where we recover Lorentz invariance. The equation of motion (3.2) becomes exactly solvable for a massless scalar:

$$\left(\partial_r^2 - \frac{d-\theta}{r}\partial_r - k^2\right)\phi = 0, \qquad (3.4)$$

with  $k = (\omega, \vec{k})$ . The solution that satisfies the correct boundary condition at  $r = \infty$  is

$$\phi = (kr)^{(d-\theta+1)/2} K_{(d-\theta+1)/2}(kr) .$$
(3.5)

Note that we have normalized the solution at the boundary according to (3.3), up to a numerical factor that does not depend on k. Expanding the modified Bessel function, we find (again up to a k-independent constant)

$$G(k) \sim k^{d-\theta+1}.\tag{3.6}$$

Fourier transforming back to position space, we find the two-point function to be

$$\langle \mathcal{O}(x)\mathcal{O}(x')\rangle = \int \frac{d^{d+1}k}{(2\pi)^{d+1}}G(k)e^{ik\cdot(x-x')} \sim \frac{1}{|x-x'|^{2(d+1)-\theta}}.$$
 (3.7)

Here  $\mathcal{O}$  is a marginal operator dual to the massless  $\phi$  in the bulk. We find that the dimension of this marginal operator is shifted by  $\theta$ .

#### 3.3 Massive case: a scaling argument

In the more general case where the mass is nonzero, we cannot solve the scalar equation of motion

$$\left(\partial_r^2 - \frac{d-\theta}{r}\partial_r - k^2 - \frac{m^2}{r^{2(d-\theta)/d}}\right)\phi = 0$$
(3.8)

in closed form (except for special values of  $\theta$  which we will discuss in the next subsection). However, we note a scaling symmetry in the equation

$$r \to \lambda r , \quad k \to k/\lambda , \quad m \to m/\lambda^{\theta/d} ,$$
 (3.9)

under which the coefficient function G(k) should transform as

$$G(k;m) = \lambda^{d-\theta+1} G(k/\lambda;m/\lambda^{\theta/d})$$
(3.10)

in order to keep (3.3) invariant.

We immediately observe that in the massless case  $G(k) \sim k^{d-\theta+1}$ , by setting  $\lambda = k$ . This agrees with our results in the previous subsection.

We also find that for positive  $\theta$ , the mass term become unimportant at short distances, and the UV behavior of the massive two-point function is given by the massless results (3.6), (3.7). The long-distance behavior of the massive two-point function is given by the WKB approximation of section 2.3. We will verify these statements in a few exactly solvable cases in the next subsection.

When  $\theta$  is negative, the mass term becomes unimportant at long distances, and the IR behavior of the massive two-point function is given by the massless results.

We have restricted ourselves to the z = 1 case here, but our results apply more generally for  $z \neq 1$  as well. In that case the scaling symmetry is

$$r \to \lambda r, \quad \vec{k} \to \vec{k}/\lambda, \quad \omega \to \omega/\lambda^z, \quad m \to m/\lambda^{\theta/d},$$
(3.11)

and the momentum-space two-point function transforms as

$$G(\vec{k},\omega;m) = \lambda^{d-\theta+z} G(\vec{k}/\lambda,\omega/\lambda^z;m/\lambda^{\theta/d}).$$
(3.12)

Fourier transforming back to position space, we have

$$G(\Delta \vec{x}, \Delta t; m) = \lambda^{2(d+z)-\theta} G(\lambda \Delta \vec{x}, \lambda^z \Delta t; m/\lambda^{\theta/d}).$$
(3.13)

The equal-time two-point function in the massless case is therefore given by

$$G(\Delta \vec{x}) \sim \frac{1}{|\Delta \vec{x}|^{2(d+z)-\theta}}.$$
(3.14)

# 3.4 Some special cases

The equation of motion (3.8) simplifies and becomes solvable in some special cases, which we now discuss.

# 3.4.1 The case $\theta = d$

The solution that satisfies the correct normalization and boundary condition is

$$\phi = \exp\left(-\sqrt{k^2 + m^2} r\right) \,. \tag{3.15}$$

The two-point function in momentum space is therefore

$$G(k) = \sqrt{k^2 + m^2} \,. \tag{3.16}$$

At short distance, the two-point function is dominated by the large-k behavior  $G(k) \sim k$ , and we have

$$\langle \mathcal{O}(x)\mathcal{O}(x')\rangle \sim \frac{1}{|x-x'|^{d+2}} \quad \text{for small } |x-x'|,$$
(3.17)

which agrees with (3.7) for  $\theta = d$ .

At long distance, the two-point function in position space

$$\langle \mathcal{O}(x)\mathcal{O}(x')\rangle = \int \frac{d^{d+1}k}{(2\pi)^{d+1}}\sqrt{k^2 + m^2}e^{ik\cdot(x-x')}$$
(3.18)

can be shown to decay as  $e^{-m|x-x'|}$  by the saddle point approximation. This agrees with (2.17) for  $\theta = d$ .

# 3.4.2 The case $\theta = d/2$

The equation of motion (3.8) is exactly solvable for  $\theta = d/2$  in terms of the confluent hypergeometric function. A special case of this kind is d = 2 and  $\theta = 1$ , which is a candidate holographic realization of a Fermi surface in 2 + 1 dimensions [31].

For  $\theta = d/2$  with general d, the solution with the correct normalization and boundary condition is

$$\phi = \frac{\Gamma(1 + \frac{d}{4} + \frac{m^2}{2k})}{\Gamma(1 + \frac{d}{2})} e^{-kr} (2kr)^{1 + \frac{d}{2}} U\left(-\frac{d}{4} + \frac{m^2}{2k}, -\frac{d}{2}, 2kr\right)$$
(3.19)

$$= 1 + \dots + (2kr)^{1 + \frac{d}{2}} \frac{\Gamma(-1 - \frac{d}{2})\Gamma(1 + \frac{d}{4} + \frac{m^2}{2k})}{\Gamma(1 + \frac{d}{2})\Gamma(-\frac{d}{4} + \frac{m^2}{2k})} + \dots,$$
(3.20)

from which we read off the two-point function in momentum space:

$$G(k) = (2k)^{1+\frac{d}{2}} \frac{\Gamma(-1-\frac{d}{2})\Gamma(1+\frac{d}{4}+\frac{m^2}{2k})}{\Gamma(1+\frac{d}{2})\Gamma(-\frac{d}{4}+\frac{m^2}{2k})}.$$
(3.21)

Again, the short-distance behavior of the two-point function is given by  $G(k) \sim k^{1+d/2}$  at large k, and agrees with (3.7) for  $\theta = d/2$ .

When d is even, the first gamma function in the numerator of (3.21) diverges and indicates the appearance of logarithmic terms in k. The two-point function in momentum space becomes

$$G(k) \sim k^2 \log k \tag{3.22}$$

at large k, which gives us  $G(\Delta x) \sim 1/|\Delta x|^3$ .

# 4 Entanglement entropy

In this section we evaluate the entanglement entropy for systems with hyperscaling violation, according to the holographic proposal of Ryu and Takayanagi [48]. Our main result is the entropy formula (4.24) for theories with arbitrary  $(z, \theta)$ . We will use this to probe various properties of these theories, including ground state degeneracies and the appearance of Fermi surfaces. Our study will reveal novel phases for  $d-1 \le \theta \le d$ , which feature violations of the area law that interpolate between logarithmic and linear behaviors.

A natural question in a holographic study of entanglement entropy is which system extremizes the entanglement entropy over a given class of metrics. This question is motivated in the following sense: one measure of strong correlation is ground-state entanglement, and it is well known that some of the most interesting systems (Fermi liquids, non-Fermi liquids) have entanglement which scales more quickly with system size than 'typical' systems. It is therefore worthwhile to ask, does holography indicate new phases (dual to new bulk metrics) with equally large or larger anomalous ground-state entanglement? This was one of our original motivations in this analysis. In section 4.4 we address this question for metrics with hyperscaling violation, finding that  $\theta = d - 1$  is the only local extremum. This implies that systems with a Fermi surface minimize the entanglement.

#### 4.1 General analysis

Before computing the entanglement entropy in systems with hyperscaling violation, let us discuss the more general class of metrics

$$ds_{d+2}^2 = e^{2A(r)} \left( -e^{2B(r)} dt^2 + dr^2 + dx_i^2 \right).$$
(4.1)

We will first calculate the entanglement entropy across a strip. This is the simplest case to analyze. Then it will be argued that the same behavior is found for general entanglement regions when their diameter is large.

Let us then begin by computing the entanglement entropy for a strip

$$-l \le x_1 \le l, \ 0 \le x_i \le L, \ i = 2, \dots, d$$
(4.2)

in the limit  $l \ll L$ . We focus on the case of  $\theta \leq d$  so the strip is located on a UV slice at  $r = \epsilon$ . The profile of the surface in the bulk is  $r = r(x_1)$ , and its area is

$$\mathcal{A} = L^{d-1} \int_0^{r_t} e^{dA(r)} \sqrt{1 + \left(\frac{dx_1}{dr}\right)^2} \,. \tag{4.3}$$

We have inverted  $x_1 = x_1(r)$  to make the conserved momentum manifest, and the turning point  $r_t$  corresponds to  $dr/dx_1|_{r_t} = 0$ . To obtain the entanglement entropy we need to extremize  $\mathcal{A}$  and evaluate it on the dominant trajectory.

The calculation follows the same steps as those of section 2.3 for the particle geodesic. Extremizing  $\mathcal{A}$  and using the conserved momentum obtains

$$\frac{dx_1}{dr} = \frac{e^{-d(A(r) - A(r_t))}}{\sqrt{1 - e^{-2d(A(r) - A(r_t))}}}.$$
(4.4)

The turning point is thus fixed in terms of the length l by the integral of this expression,

$$l = \int_0^{r_t} dr \, \frac{e^{-d(A(r) - A(r_t))}}{\sqrt{1 - e^{-2d(A(r) - A(r_t))}}} \,. \tag{4.5}$$

Finally, replacing (4.4) into (4.3) obtains the formula for the area

$$\mathcal{A} = L^{d-1} \int_{\epsilon}^{r_t} dr \, \frac{e^{dA(r)}}{\sqrt{1 - e^{-2d(A(r) - A(r_t))}}} \,. \tag{4.6}$$

The entanglement entropy for a strip in the general metric (2.4) is thus

$$S = \frac{M_{\rm Pl}^d}{4} \mathcal{A} \tag{4.7}$$

with  $M_{\rm Pl}$  the (d+2) -dimensional Planck constant.

# 4.1.1 General entanglement regions

While most of our analysis will be carried out explicitly for the simplest case of a strip, our conclusions will also apply to general entanglement surfaces. We will now establish this, by showing that the entanglement entropy for a general surface is given approximately by (4.6) both near the boundary and at long distances.

Consider a general surface, parametrized by

$$x_d = \sigma(x_i), \ i = 1, \dots, d-1$$
 (4.8)

at r = 0. The surface that extremizes the area will then be of the form

$$x_d = \Sigma(x_i, r) , \ \Sigma(x_i, 0) = \sigma(x_i) . \tag{4.9}$$

The pullback of the bulk metric onto  $\Sigma$  gives

$$ds_{\Sigma}^{2} = e^{2A} \left( \left[ 1 + (\partial_{r}\Sigma)^{2} \right] dr^{2} + 2\partial_{r}\Sigma\partial_{i}\Sigma \, dr dx_{i} + (\delta_{ij} + \partial_{i}\Sigma\partial_{j}\Sigma) \, dx^{i} dx^{j} \right)$$
(4.10)

and the area reads

$$\mathcal{A} = \int d^{d-1}x \, dr \, e^{dA(r)} \sqrt{1 + (\partial_i \Sigma)^2 + (\partial_r \Sigma)^2} \,. \tag{4.11}$$

The equation of motion implies the existence of a conserved current  $J_M$  with components

$$J_r = e^{dA(r)} \frac{\partial_r \Sigma}{\sqrt{1 + (\partial_i \Sigma)^2 + f(r)(\partial_r \Sigma)^2}}$$
  
$$J_i = e^{dA(r)} \frac{\partial_i \Sigma}{\sqrt{1 + (\partial_i \Sigma)^2 + (\partial_r \Sigma)^2}}.$$
 (4.12)

Integrating  $\partial_M J^M = 0$  over  $x_i$ , we read off the conserved charge

$$Q_r = \int d^{d-1}x \, e^{dA(r)} \, \frac{\partial_r \Sigma}{\sqrt{1 + (\partial_i \Sigma)^2 + (\partial_r \Sigma)^2}} \,, \tag{4.13}$$

which generalizes the result for a strip (4.4) to an arbitrary shape.

We will now show that (4.11) reduces to the case of a strip (4.6) both near the boundary  $r = \epsilon$  and near a 'turning point'  $\partial_r \Sigma \to \infty$ . First, for  $r \to 0$ ,  $\Sigma(x_i, r)$  may be expanded as<sup>10</sup>

$$\Sigma(x_i, r) = \sigma(x_i) + r^{\lambda} \sigma_1(x_i) + \dots \qquad (4.14)$$

The equation of motion for  $\sigma_1$  then requires  $\lambda = 1$ . Then the UV part of the area is of the form

$$\mathcal{A}_{\rm UV} \approx \left( \int d^{d-1}x \sqrt{1 + (\partial_i \sigma)^2} \right) \int_{\epsilon} dr \, e^{dA(r)} \,, \tag{4.15}$$

which indeed agrees with the result for the strip (4.6).

Now we want to show that for regions of large area (or diameter), the long-distance part of the entanglement entropy also coincides with (4.6). Intuitively, when the size of the system is large most of the surface is deep inside the bulk, and the scaling of the entropy can be approximated by the behavior in the vinicity of a turning point  $r = r_t$  with  $\partial_r \Sigma \to \infty$ .

In more detail, we require that locally around  $r_t$ ,  $\partial_i \Sigma$  is smooth and that the combination

$$e^{dA(r)}(r-r_t)^{1/2} \to 0 \text{ as } r \to r_t$$
.

This guarantees that  $J_i \to 0$  as  $r \to r_t$  (see (4.12) for a definition of  $J_M$ ) and hence the current conservation equation implies that  $J_r \approx \text{const near } r = r_t$ . In this approximation,

$$\partial_r \Sigma \approx \sqrt{1 + (\partial_i \Sigma)^2} \frac{e^{-d(A(r) - A(r_t))}}{\sqrt{1 - e^{-2d(A(r) - A(r_t))}}} \,. \tag{4.16}$$

This agrees with the behavior (4.4), so the entropy from the IR region also agrees with that for a strip,

$$\mathcal{A}_{\rm IR} \approx \left( \int d^{d-1}x \sqrt{1 + (\partial_i \Sigma)^2} \right) \int^{r_t} dr \, \frac{e^{dA(r)}}{\sqrt{1 - e^{-2d(A(r) - A(r_t))}}} \,. \tag{4.17}$$

Given these results, in what follows our calculations will be done explicitly for a strip, keeping in mind that our conclusions are valid for more general entanglement regions that satisfy the above criterion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>A similar analysis near the boundary for a specific metric appeared recently in [31].

# 4.1.2 Using trial surfaces

Let us also briefly mention that the basic properties of the entanglement entropy can be understood by considering a simple trial surface in the bulk (e.g. a cylinder) and requiring that it is a stationary point. This method also applies to a general entanglement region.

Consider a general entanglement region  $\Sigma$  defined on a slice  $r = \epsilon$ ; denote its volume  $|\Sigma|$  and surface area by  $|\partial\Sigma|$ . We now approximate the bulk surface used in the holographic calculation of the entanglement entropy by a cylinder with boundary  $\partial\Sigma$ , that extends from  $r = \epsilon$  to  $r = r_t$ . The value  $r_t$  is chosen such that it extremizes the entanglement entropy.<sup>11</sup> Starting from the general metric (4.1), the total area of this bulk cylinder is then

$$\mathcal{A} = |\partial \Sigma| \int_{\epsilon}^{r_t} dr \, e^{dA(r)} + |\Sigma| e^{dA(r_t)} \,. \tag{4.18}$$

Requiring that  $r_t$  is a stationary point gives

$$A'(r_t) = -\frac{1}{d} \frac{|\partial \Sigma|}{|\Sigma|} \equiv -\frac{1}{dl}$$
(4.19)

where we introduced the perimeter  $l \equiv |\Sigma|/|\partial\Sigma|$ .

Given a concrete warp factor, (4.19) determines the value of  $r_t$ , and then (4.18) gives the approximation of the entanglement entropy by trial cylinders. The stationary point is a minimum or a maximum depending on the sign of A''(r):

$$\frac{\delta^2 \mathcal{A}}{\delta r_t^2} = |\Sigma| d \, e^{dA(r_t)} A''(r_t) \,, \tag{4.20}$$

evaluated at the critical point. In examples below we will find that this procedure gives a good qualitative understanding of the entanglement entropy.

# 4.2 Entanglement entropy with hyperscaling violation

Now we are ready to evaluate the entanglement entropy for metrics with hyperscaling violation. It is useful to start by recalling the scale invariant  $\theta = 0$  case. The bulk metric corresponds to  $e^{2A} = R^2/r^2$  in the ansatz (4.1), with R the AdS radius. Plugging this into (4.5) and (4.6) obtains

$$S = \frac{(RM_{\rm Pl})^d}{4(d-1)} \left[ \left(\frac{L}{\epsilon}\right)^{d-1} - \left(\sqrt{\pi} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{1+d}{2d}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2d}\right)}\right)^d \left(\frac{L}{l}\right)^{d-1} \right], \tag{4.21}$$

up to higher powers of  $\epsilon$ . For d = 3, this reproduces the entanglement entropy for  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  SYM, after relating the 5d Einstein frame quantities to their 10d counterparts.

The hyperscaling violation exponent modifies the warp factor to  $e^{dA(r)} = r^{\theta-d}$  (ignoring for now the cross-over scale). Now (4.6) gives

$$\mathcal{A} = L^{d-1} r_t^{1-d+\theta} \int_{\epsilon/r_t}^1 du \frac{u^{-(d-\theta)}}{\sqrt{1-u^{2(d-\theta)}}} = L^{d-1} \left( \frac{\sqrt{\pi} \Gamma\left(\frac{1+d-\theta}{2(d-\theta)}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2(d-\theta)}\right)} \frac{r_t^{1-d+\theta}}{1-d+\theta} - \frac{\epsilon^{1-d+\theta}}{1-d+\theta} \right)$$
(4.22)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Of course, this approach is well-known in applications of the method of variations. See e.g. [51] for an earlier work in the context of entanglement entropy.

and, from (4.5), the turning point is related to the length of the strip by

$$l = r_t \int_0^1 du \frac{u^{(d-\theta)}}{\sqrt{1 - u^{2(d-\theta)}}} = \frac{\sqrt{\pi} \Gamma\left(\frac{1+d-\theta}{2(d-\theta)}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2(d-\theta)}\right)} r_t.$$
(4.23)

Restoring R and the cross-over scale  $r_F$ , we thus find that the entanglement entropy across a strip is

$$S = \frac{(M_{\rm Pl}R)^d}{4(d-\theta-1)} \left[ \left(\frac{\epsilon}{r_F}\right)^{\theta} \left(\frac{L}{\epsilon}\right)^{d-1} - \left(\frac{\sqrt{\pi}\,\Gamma\left(\frac{1+d-\theta}{2(d-\theta)}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2(d-\theta)}\right)}\right)^{d-\theta} \left(\frac{l}{r_F}\right)^{\theta} \left(\frac{L}{l}\right)^{d-1} \right], \quad (4.24)$$

again neglecting higher powers of  $\epsilon$ . Comparing with the scale invariant answer (4.21), we see that the effect of the hyperscaling violation exponent is to modify the entropy by an additional power of  $(\text{length})^{\theta}$ . This can be understood directly in terms of scaling weights: since the metric has dimension  $\theta/d$ , the entanglement entropy across a *d*-dimensional region acquires a scaling weight  $\theta$ .

It is also useful to obtain the entanglement entropy using the method of trial surfaces described above. Choosing a cylinder in the bulk, (4.18) and (4.19) evaluate to

$$\mathcal{S}_{\text{trial}} = \frac{(M_{\text{Pl}}R)^d}{4(d-\theta-1)} \left[ \left(\frac{\epsilon}{r_F}\right)^{\theta} \frac{|\partial \Sigma|}{\epsilon^{d-1}} - \frac{1}{(d-\theta)^{d-\theta}} \left(\frac{l}{r_F}\right)^{\theta} \frac{|\partial \Sigma|}{l^{d-1}} \right]$$
(4.25)

where the trial value of the turning point is  $r_t = (d - \theta)l$  and recall that  $l = |\Sigma|/|\partial\Sigma|$  here. Eq. (4.25) correctly reproduces all the physical features of (4.24); moreover when  $\Sigma$  is a strip both expressions exactly agree for  $\theta = d - 1$ . Eq. (4.25) of course applies to general surfaces, indicating that our conclusions are valid beyond the case of strip-like region.

#### 4.3 Novel phases with $d - 1 < \theta < d$

The entanglement entropy result (4.24) reveals interesting properties of the dual field theory. First, when  $\theta = d - 1$  the integral in (4.22) gives a logarithmic (instead of power-law) dependence, so that the entropy becomes

$$S = \frac{(M_{\rm Pl}R)^d}{4} \left(\frac{L}{r_F}\right)^{d-1} \log \frac{2l}{\epsilon} \,. \tag{4.26}$$

The cutoff can be chosen to be of order the cross-over scale,  $\epsilon \sim r_F$ , where we expect the metric (2.1) to give a good description of the dynamics. Eq. (4.26) shows a logarithmic violation of the area law, signaling the appearance of a Fermi surface in the dual theory. This case was studied in detail by [30, 31], who identified various properties of this (strongly coupled) Fermi surface. In particular,  $r_F \sim k_F^{-1}$ , the inverse scale of the Fermi surface.

Another special value corresponds to  $\theta = d$ , where the metric becomes

$$ds^{2} = \frac{R^{2}}{r_{F}^{2}} \left( -r^{-2(z-1)}dt^{2} + dr^{2} + dx_{i}^{2} \right) , \qquad (4.27)$$

and the geometry develops an  $\mathbb{R}^d$  factor. In this limit, the surface that bounds the entanglement region does not move into the bulk, and the entropy is simply proportional to the volume of the entanglement region,

$$S = \frac{(M_{\rm Pl}R)^d}{2} \frac{L^{d-1}l}{r_F^d} \,. \tag{4.28}$$

This is an extensive contribution to the entanglement entropy and suggests that the dual theory has an extensive ground state entropy. Note that the metric (4.27) is not that of  $AdS_2 \times \mathbb{R}^d$ , which shares this feature.<sup>12</sup>

Having understood these two limits, it is clear that in the range of parameters

$$d - 1 < \theta < d \,, \tag{4.29}$$

(4.24) predicts new violations of the area law that interpolate between the logarithmic and linear behaviors. These novel phases present various intriguing properties. To begin with, the entanglement entropy is finite: (4.24) does not diverge if we take the cutoff  $\epsilon \to 0$ . Also, in section 2.2 we learned that in general these systems have a nontrivial dynamical exponent  $z > 1 - \theta/d$ . The correlation functions computed in sections 2 and 3 may also provide information to further characterize these phases. For instance, for massless scalars the two-point function is  $G(|\Delta x| \sim 1/|\Delta x|^{d+3-\alpha})$ , where  $\alpha = \theta - (d-1)$ .

In the following sections we will derive further properties of these systems by placing them at finite temperature and will comment on the possible ground states that can lead to these new phases.

#### 4.4 Extremizing the entanglement entropy

Finally, based on the result (4.24), let us determine the value of  $\theta$  that extremizes the entropy. We focus on the finite contribution to S in the limit where the diameter is much larger than  $r_F$ , which is necessary in order to obtain a universal answer independent of the entanglement surface.<sup>13</sup>

Extremizing the second term of (4.24) with respect to  $\theta$  shows that there is a local minimum at

$$\theta_c \approx d - 1 - \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\log(l/r_F)}\right).$$
(4.30)

Therefore,  $\theta = d-1$  minimizes S in the limit of large diameter. This establishes that Fermi surfaces are local minima of the entanglement entropy.<sup>14</sup>

We can also ask which value of  $\theta$  gives the strongest *l*-dependence. Assuming  $\theta \leq d$ , the strongest rate is a linear dependence in *l*, when  $\theta = d$  (see also [30]). The entropy then scales like the volume of the entanglement region. Intuitively, this is associated to the logarithm of the number of degrees of freedom, which scales like the volume.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Similar volume laws were discussed in [51] (and [61] for flat space holography) and related to nonlocality; we see no reason the metrics we are studying here are dual to non-local theories, however.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>The same result is obtained if the metric (2.1) is valid all the way to  $r \to 0$ . In this case it is consistent to take  $\epsilon \sim r_F \to 0$ , and extremizing the first term of (4.24) with respect to  $\theta$  also yields a universal answer.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>It would be interesting to study explicitly other entanglement regions.

However, just from the NEC analysis in section 2.2, we found that  $\theta > d$  is allowed.<sup>15</sup> In this range, the entanglement entropy scales faster than the volume, which is not expected to correspond to a QFT behavior. It is interesting to ask whether the entanglement entropy can reveal additional properties of this regime. For this, consider again the calculation in terms of trial cylinders in the bulk. At the stationary point, the entanglement entropy (4.25) is a good approximation to the exact answer. The "mass" for fluctuations around the critical point  $r_t = (d - \theta)l$  can be calculated from (4.20), which now implies

$$\frac{\delta^2 \mathcal{A}}{\delta r_t^2} \propto \frac{d-\theta}{r_t^2} \,. \tag{4.31}$$

For  $\theta < d$ , the stationary surface is a minimum; at  $\theta = d$  the bulk surface collapses into the  $r = \epsilon$  slice, explaining the extensive scaling. And for  $\theta > d$  the stationary point becomes a maximum. This suggests that gravitational backgrounds with  $\theta > d$  cannot appear as stable theories (at least in the regime of validity of our current analysis). Section 5 exhibits similar thermodynamic instabilities, and in the string theory realizations one finds that there is no well-defined decoupling limit. All these results suggest that theories with  $\theta > d$ may not be consistent.

# 5 Thermodynamics

So far we studied properties of QFTs with hyperscaling violation at zero temperature, such as correlators, the energy-momentum tensor, and entanglement entropy. We will now analyze finite temperature effects in these holographic theories. After obtaining the basic thermodynamic quantities for this class of theories, we will study the entanglement entropy at finite temperature and the cross-over to the thermal result. In particular, this will reveal how the degrees of freedom responsible for entanglement are related to those that are excited by thermal effects. The reader is also referred to [23, 28, 31, 49] for related discussions.

# 5.1 Gravitational background at finite temperature

Finite temperature effects are encoded in the general metric (2.4) by introducing an emblackening factor f(r) with

$$ds_{d+2}^2 = e^{2A(r)} \left( -e^{2B(r)} f(r) dt^2 + \frac{dr^2}{f(r)} + dx_i^2 \right) \,. \tag{5.1}$$

The basic property of f(r) is that it vanishes at some  $r = r_h$ ; the temperature is then proportional to a power of  $r_h$ , as we explain in more detail below. In order to study finite temperature effects on a regime with hyperscaling violation, in the gravity side we need to take  $r_F < r_h$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>For  $\theta > d$  the UV boundary is at  $r = \infty$  so one has to put the entanglement region  $\Sigma$  there. Eqs. (4.20) and (4.31) are still valid in this case whereas (4.19) changes sign.

Starting now from the metric (2.1) with hyperscaling violation, the black hole solution becomes [28, 49]

$$ds_{d+2}^2 = \frac{R^2}{r^2} \left(\frac{r}{r_F}\right)^{2\theta/d} \left(-r^{-2(z-1)}f(r)dt^2 + \frac{dr^2}{f(r)} + dx_i^2\right),$$
(5.2)

with

$$f(r) = 1 - \left(\frac{r}{r_h}\right)^{d+z-\theta} .$$
(5.3)

Starting from a solution with f(r) = 1 and matter content general enough to allow for arbitrary  $(z, \theta)$ ,<sup>16</sup> one can show, using the results in the appendix, that (5.3) still gives a solution. Concrete examples will be presented in section 6. As usual, the relation between the temperature and  $r_h$  follows by expanding  $r_h - r = u^2$ , and demanding that near the horizon the metric is  $ds^2 \approx du^2 + u^2 d\tau^2$ , where  $\tau = (2\pi T)it$ . The result is

$$T = \frac{1}{4\pi} \frac{|d+z-\theta|}{r_h^z} \,. \tag{5.4}$$

These expressions imply that the thermal entropy, which is proportional to the area of the black hole, becomes

$$\mathcal{S}_T \sim (M_{\rm Pl}R)^d V \frac{T^{(d-\theta)/z}}{r_F^{\theta}} \,. \tag{5.5}$$

Thus, a positive specific heat imposes the condition

$$\frac{d-\theta}{z} \ge 0. \tag{5.6}$$

We see that the branch  $\{0 < z < 1, \theta \ge d + z\}$  that was consistent with the NEC is thermodynamically unstable. On the other hand,  $\{z \le 0, \theta \ge d\}$  is still allowed by (5.6). It would be interesting to study this case in more detail to decide whether it is consistent — the entanglement entropy analysis of section 4 suggested an instability for all  $\theta > d$ .

Eq. (5.5) suggests that  $d - \theta$  plays the role of an effective space dimensionality for the dual theory. From this point of view,  $\theta = d - 1$  yields a system living in one effective space dimension, i.e. a (1 + 1)-dimensional theory. Recall also that for this value of  $\theta$  there is a logarithmic violation of the area law for the entanglement entropy. These points support the interpretation of  $\theta = d - 1$  as systems with a Fermi surface [30, 31]. The case  $\theta = d$  would then correspond to a system in (0 + 1)-dimensions. In section 4 we found novel phases with  $d - 1 < \theta < d$  that violate the area law. According to this interpretation, these would be systems of defects living in a fractional space dimension (between 0 and 1).

Notice that the behavior of the thermal entropy for  $\theta = d$  can also be obtained in systems with  $\theta < d$  by taking  $z \to \infty$ . This is the familiar  $AdS_2 \times \mathbb{R}^d$  limit of a Lifshitz metric. We see from the metrics that these systems are not equivalent, and they are distinguished in terms of field theory observables by their correlation functions. In particular, the two-point function for a marginal operator,

$$G(x, x') = \frac{1}{|x - x'|^{2(d+1) - \theta}},$$
(5.7)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>This can be accomplished for instance in Einstein gravity with a scalar and gauge field.

implies that positive  $\theta$  increases the correlation between spatially separated points. Therefore, despite the extensive ground-state entropy,  $\theta = d$  does not in any sense correspond to spatially uncorrelated quantum mechanical degrees of freedom.

# 5.2 Entanglement entropy and cross-over to thermal entropy

We now study the entanglement entropy at finite temperature. This quantity is of physical interest since it illustrates how the degrees of freedom responsible for the entanglement entropy contribute to the thermal excitation. As [49] argued recently, we expect a universal crossover function that interpolates between the entanglement and thermal entropies.

Finite temperature effects modify the entanglement entropy for a strip as follows:

$$S = \frac{M_{\rm Pl}^d}{4} L^{d-1} \int_{\epsilon}^{r_t} dr \, f(r)^{-1/2} \frac{e^{dA(r)}}{\sqrt{1 - e^{-2d(A(r) - A(r_t))}}} \,, \tag{5.8}$$

where  $r_t$  is given in terms of the length and temperature by

$$l = \int_0^{r_t} dr f(r)^{-1/2} \frac{e^{-d(A(r) - A(r_t))}}{\sqrt{1 - e^{-2d(A(r) - A(r_t))}}} \,.$$
(5.9)

For the purpose of comparing with the thermal entropy we focus on the universal finite contribution to (5.8).

Evaluating these expressions for the metrics (2.1) with hyperscaling violation obtains

$$S_{\text{finite}} = \frac{(M_{\text{Pl}}R)^d}{4} L^{d-1} r_t^{1+\theta-d} I_-\left(\frac{r_t}{r_h}\right) \quad , \quad l = r_t I_+\left(\frac{r_t}{r_h}\right) \tag{5.10}$$

where we have defined the integrals

$$I_{\pm}(\alpha) = \int^{1} du \, \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - (\alpha u)^{z+d-\theta}}} \frac{u^{\pm (d-\theta)}}{\sqrt{1 - u^{2(d-\theta)}}} \,.$$
(5.11)

Also, recall from (5.4) that  $r_h \sim T^{-1/z}$ .

We first need to express the turning point  $r_t$  in terms of l and T and then plug this into  $S_{finite}$ . While  $I_{\pm}(\alpha)$  don't have a simple analytic form for general  $\theta$ , we can analyze the limits of small and large temperatures explicitly. In the small temperature regime we have  $T^{1/z}l \ll 1$  or, equivalently,  $r_h \gg r_t$ . The lowest order thermal correction to the entanglement entropy (4.24) is

$$\mathcal{S}_{\text{finite}} \propto (M_{\text{Pl}}R)^d \left(\frac{L}{l}\right)^{d-1} \left(\frac{l}{r_F}\right)^{\theta} \left[-\frac{1}{d-\theta-1} + c_1(d-\theta,z)(lT^{1/z})^{d-\theta+z} + \dots\right]$$
(5.12)

with  $c_1$  a positive constant that depends on  $d - \theta$  and z. So the finite contribution to the entanglement entropy increases by thermal effects, with a nontrivial power  $T^{(d-\theta+z)/z}$ . Interestingly, this dependence is in general non-analytic — for instance, the leading thermal correction is  $\sim T^{(z+1)/z}$  in systems with a Fermi surface ( $\theta = d-1$ ). It would be interesting to understand the physical implications of these corrections. On the other hand, in the large temperature regime,  $r_h \to r_t$ , and the integrals  $I_{\pm}$  are dominated by the pole near u = 1. Then  $I_+ \approx I_- \approx l/r_h$ , and expressing  $r_h$  in terms of T finds

$$S_{\text{finite}} \propto L^{d-1} l \, T^{(d-\theta)/z} \,,$$
(5.13)

which agrees with the thermal entropy (5.5). This verifies the existence of a crossover function that interpolates between the entanglement and thermal entropy, in theories with  $\theta \neq 0$ .

#### 6 String theory realizations

In this last section we will show how some  $\theta \neq 0$  metrics arise from string theory. Theories with nontrivial hyperscaling violation have been realized so far in effective actions for Einstein, Maxwell and dilaton fields. However, this description usually breaks down in the far UV or IR, so it is important to have UV completions that explain what happens at very short or very long distances. We will accomplish this by noting that, over a wide range of scales, Dp-branes with  $p \neq 3$  give rise to metrics of the form (2.1) with z = 1 but  $\theta \neq 0$ . This discussion has overlap with similar remarks in [24].

#### 6.1 Black-brane solutions

Let us first review the necessary results on black branes in ten-dimensional supergravity. For more details and references to the literature see e.g. [6, 62]. In 10d string frame, the Dp-black brane solution is

$$ds_{str}^2 = -\frac{f_+(\rho)}{\sqrt{f_-(\rho)}}dt^2 + \sqrt{f_-(\rho)}\sum_{i=1}^p dx_i^2 + \frac{f_-(\rho)^{-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{5-p}{7-p}}}{f_+(\rho)}d\rho^2 + \rho^2 f_-(\rho)^{\frac{1}{2}-\frac{5-p}{7-p}}d\Omega_{8-p}^2, \quad (6.1)$$

where

$$f_{\pm}(\rho) = 1 - \frac{\rho_{\pm}^{7-p}}{\rho^{7-p}}.$$
(6.2)

The supergravity solution includes a dilaton

$$e^{-2\phi(\rho)} = g_s^{-2} f_{-}(\rho)^{-(p-3)/2}$$
(6.3)

and RR p-form with field strength

$$\int_{S^{8-p}} \star F_{p+2} = N \,, \tag{6.4}$$

where N is the number of D-branes. The ADM mass is  $M \propto (8-p)\rho_+^{7-p} - \rho_-^{7-p}$ , and  $N \propto (\rho_+\rho_-)^{(7-p)/2}$ .

It is convenient to introduce a new radial coordinate

$$u^{7-p} = \rho^{7-p} - \rho_{-}^{7-p} \tag{6.5}$$

and define

$$\rho_{+}^{7-p} = u_{h}^{7-p} \cosh^{2}\beta , \ \rho_{-}^{7-p} = u_{h}^{7-p} \sinh^{2}\beta .$$
(6.6)

Here

$$\sinh^2 \beta = -\frac{1}{2} + \sqrt{\frac{1}{4} + (c_p g_s N(l_s/u_h)^{7-p})^2} \,. \tag{6.7}$$

Then the metric and dilaton acquire the more familiar form

$$ds_{str}^{2} = H(u)^{-1/2} \left( -f(u)dt^{2} + \sum_{i=1}^{p} dx_{i}^{2} \right) + H(u)^{1/2} \left( \frac{du^{2}}{f(u)} + u^{2} d\Omega_{8-p}^{2} \right)$$
$$e^{\phi(u)} = g_{s}H(u)^{(3-p)/4}, \qquad (6.8)$$

with

$$H(u) = 1 + \sinh^2 \beta \, \frac{u_h^{7-p}}{u^{7-p}} \,, \ f(u) = 1 - \frac{u_h^{7-p}}{u^{7-p}} \,. \tag{6.9}$$

In order to compute the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy, we need to change to 10d Einstein frame. This is accomplished by rescaling

$$ds_E^2 = (g_s^{-1} e^{\phi})^{-1/2} ds_{str}^2 \,. \tag{6.10}$$

The area of the horizon at  $u = u_h$  then gives an entropy

$$\mathcal{S}_{BH} \sim \cosh\beta \, u_h^{8-p} \,, \tag{6.11}$$

in 10d Planck units. This defines a thermal entropy for the dual theory on the Dp-brane, where the temperature is determined by  $\cosh \beta$  and  $u_h$ :

$$T \sim \frac{1}{\cosh\beta \, u_h} \,. \tag{6.12}$$

These results simplify in the limit of small temperature, in which case the black branes are nearly extremal. When  $u_h \to 0$ , (6.7) gives  $\cosh^2 \beta \sim \sinh^2 \beta \sim 1/u_h^{7-p}$ . Note also that  $\sinh^2 \beta u_h^{7-p} \sim g_s N$  in string units. Then  $T \sim u_h^{(5-p)/2}$  and

$$\mathcal{S}_{BH} \sim T^{\frac{9-p}{5-p}} \,. \tag{6.13}$$

The (extremal) supergravity description is valid when the curvature and dilaton are small. In terms of the effective 't Hooft coupling on the branes,

$$g_{\rm eff}^2 = \frac{g_s N}{u^{3-p}} \,, \tag{6.14}$$

the solution is valid when [50]

$$1 \ll g_{\text{eff}}^2 \ll N^{\frac{4}{7-p}}$$
 (6.15)

At large N and for p < 7, this gives a large range of u where the supergravity description can be trusted.

Notice that the dilaton grows large for  $p \leq 2$  in the deep IR, and goes outside the range (6.15). For example at p = 2, the theory flows into the M-theory regime. We emphasize that the entropy scaling (6.13) is valid when the horizon is located within the regime of validity of 10D supergravity/string theory (6.15), and at the corresponding range of temperatures, the theory exhibits hyperscaling violation.

# 6.2 (p+2)-dimensional effective theory and hyperscaling violation

We will now compactify this theory on  $S^{8-p}$  and show that it leads to hyperscaling violation. Dimensionally reducing on the sphere and changing to Einstein frame in p + 2 dimensions obtains

$$ds_{p+2}^2 = u^{(16-2p)/p} H(u)^{1/p} \left( -f(u)dt^2 + \sum_{i=1}^p dx_i^2 + H(u)\frac{du^2}{f(u)} \right).$$
(6.16)

This is of the general form (2.4) after the redefinition

$$dr \equiv H(u)^{1/2} du \,. \tag{6.17}$$

Also p = d in the notation of the previous sections.

Taking the near horizon  $limit^{17}$  of (6.16), we arrive at metrics (2.1) and (5.2) with hyperscaling violation exponent

$$\theta = p - \frac{9 - p}{5 - p}, \tag{6.18}$$

where  $r \propto u^{(p-5)/2}$ . The emblackening factor f(u) also reproduces the black hole solution (5.2). As a further check, we can compute thermal effects in this effective theory and compare with the 10d answer. For instance, plugging (6.18) into the formula for the thermal entropy (5.5) indeed agrees with (6.13) for z = 1.

We conclude that black-branes with  $p \neq 3$  give rise to metrics with hyperscaling violation. This description is valid in the range of radial variables (6.15), and provides an explicit dual field theory realization of systems with hyperscaling violation. The field theory is given by SU(N) super Yang-Mills in (p + 1) dimensions, with sixteen supersymmetries; for a large range of energy scales and strong 't Hooft coupling, it realizes a hyperscaling violation exponent (6.18). Notice that  $\theta < 0$  for  $p \leq 4$ , and  $\theta > p$  for  $p \geq 6$ . Of course, these values satisfy the NEC constraints found in section 2.2. It is important to remark that the  $p \geq 6$  cases do not, however, "decouple from gravity" and give rise to well-defined non-gravitational theories the way the  $p \leq 5$  cases do.

A relevant case for condensed matter applications is that of N D2-branes, which lead to  $\theta = -1/3$ . The string theory realization also allows us to understand the deep UV and IR limits, where the hyperscaling violating regime is not valid. The UV theory is given by the maximally supersymmetric YM theory in 2 + 1 dimensions, which is asymptotically free. In the IR the theory flows to a strongly coupled conformal field theory dual to  $AdS_4 \times S^7$ — the gravity background for M2 branes.

Besides providing an explicit string theory realization of systems with hyperscaling violation, our results from the previous sections show interesting properties of maximally symmetric Yang-Mills theories in the intermediate strongly coupled regime (6.15). For instance, the propagator for an operator dual to a massless scalar is

$$G(x, x') = \frac{1}{|x - x'|^{p+2-\frac{9-p}{5-p}}}.$$
(6.19)

<sup>17</sup>Note that the near horizon limit  $u^{7-p} \ll g_s N$  overlaps with the supergravity range (6.15) for p < 7.

The entanglement entropy is also a probe of strong dynamics. The result (4.24) yields

$$S \sim \frac{L^{d-1}}{\epsilon^{\frac{4}{5-p}}} - C_p \frac{L^{d-1}}{l^{\frac{4}{5-p}}}$$
(6.20)

with  $C_p$  a numerical constant. The entanglement entropy for D-branes was also calculated in [51]. Their interpretation of (6.20) was in terms of an area law and a number of degrees of freedom with nontrivial dependence on the RG scale,

$$N_{\rm eff} \propto \epsilon^{-\frac{(p-3)^2}{5-p}} \,. \tag{6.21}$$

# 7 Future directions

In this paper, we have systematically analyzed the most basic holographic characteristics of the family of metrics (1.3), building on much earlier work. There are many directions in which one could imagine further developments.

On the one hand, the classes of such metrics which are known to arise in string theory are still quite limited. We saw here that Dp-brane metrics in the supergravity regime, for  $p \neq 3, 5$ , provide one class of examples.  $AdS_2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$  and Lifshitz spacetimes provide another. But the cases of most physical interest in conventional systems, such as the  $\theta = d - 1$  "Fermi-surface" - like case [31], remain to be realized.

On a related note, it would be interesting to interpret the  $\theta \neq 0$  metrics more explicitly in terms of dual field theories. In some of the cases with  $\theta < 0$ , it may be useful to think of these metrics as simply reflecting a growth of the effective number of degrees of freedom with temperature or energy scale — this has been suggested for the Dp-brane metrics in e.g. [51]. On the other hand, it has also been suggested that spin-glass phases of the random field Ising model can be governed by nontrivial hyperscaling violation exponent [63]. Several groups have proposed different ways to model random or glassy phases with gravity or D-brane constructions [64–67]; it would be very interesting if coarse-graining appropriately in any of these approaches, yielded metrics of the form (1.3) for reasons similar to those espoused in [63].

Also, while here we followed an effective approach studying holography on slices at finite radius (associated to the cross-over scale  $r_F$ ), one could imagine trying to take the limit  $r_F \rightarrow 0$ . It would then be interesting to extend the methods of holographic renormalization [68] to metrics with hyperscaling violation.

Finally, we uncovered here some novel "bottom up" holographic ground states with entanglement entropy intermediate between area law and extensive scaling, for  $d-1 < \theta < d$ . It is well known that systems with extensive ground state entropy, like the duals of  $AdS_2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$  gravity theories (or, even simpler, theories of free decoupled spins), can yield extensive entanglement entropy. It would be interesting to find candidate field-theoretic models which could yield the intermediate scalings we found here. In [69, 70] and references therein, supersymmetric lattice models which are either "superfrustrated" (enjoying extensive ground-state entropy), or frustrated with large but sub-extensive ground state degeneracy, are described. It is quite possible that one can construct analogous lattice models with intermediate ground state entropies, giving rise to entanglement scaling like that of our new phases [71]. In fact, soon after this work was submitted, similar intermediate scalings of the entanglement entropy were found in field-theoretic models with impurities [72].

# Acknowledgments

We are grateful to L. Huijse, J. Polchinski, S. Sachdev, S. Shenker, E. Silverstein and B. Swingle for helpful discussions. This research was supported in part by the US DOE under contract DE-AC02-76SF00515 and the National Science Foundation under grant no. PHY-0756174. S.H. is supported by the ARCS Foundation, Inc. Stanford Graduate Fellowship.

# A Metric properties

This sections contains results on the Ricci and Einstein tensors for the general class of metrics

$$ds_{d+2}^2 = e^{2A(r)} \left( -e^{2B(r)} f(r) dt^2 + \frac{dr^2}{f(r)} + dx_i^2 \right) .$$
 (A.1)

The nonzero elements of the Ricci tensor are

$$R_{tt} = \frac{1}{2}e^{2B(r)}f(r)\Big(\left[(d+2)A'(r)+3B'(r)\right]f'(r)+2f(r)\left[(A'(r)+B'(r))(dA'(r)+B'(r))\right] + A''(r) + B''(r)\right]f'(r) + 2f(r)\left[(A'(r)+B'(r))(dA'(r)+B'(r))\right] + (d+1)A''(r) + 3B'(r)\left[f'(r)+2f(r)\left[B'(r)(A'(r)+B'(r))\right] + (d+1)A''(r) + B''(r)\right]f'(r) + f''(r)\Big)$$

$$R_{ij} = -\delta_{ij}\Big(df(r)A'(r)^2 + f(r)A'(r)B'(r) + A'(r)f'(r) + f(r)A''(r)\Big), \qquad (A.2)$$

and the scalar curvature is

$$R = -e^{-2A(r)} \Big( 2(d+1)A'(r)f'(r) + 3B'(r)f'(r) + (d+1)f(r) \left[ dA'(r)^2 + 2A'(r)B'(r) \right] + 2f(r) \left[ B'(r)^2 + (d+1)A''(r) + B''(r) \right] + f''(r) \Big).$$
(A.3)

As a result, the Einstein tensor  $G_{MN} = R_{MN} - \frac{1}{2}g_{MN}R$  simplifies to

$$G_{tt} = -\frac{1}{2} de^{2B(r)} f(r) \Big( A'(r) f'(r) + f(r) \left[ (d-1)A'(r)^2 + 2A''(r) \right] \Big)$$
  

$$G_{rr} = \frac{1}{2} f^{-1}(r) dA'(r) \Big( f(r) \left[ (d+1)A'(r) + 2B'(r) \right] + f'(r) \Big)$$
  

$$G_{ij} = \frac{1}{2} \delta_{ij} \Big( d(d-1)f(r)A'(r)^2 + 2df(r)A'(r)B'(r) + 2f(r)B'(r)^2 + 2dA'(r)f'(r) + 3B'(r)f'(r) + 2df(r)A''(r) + 2f(r)B''(r) + f''(r) \Big).$$
(A.4)

We can impose the null energy condition,

$$T_{\mu\nu}N^{\mu}N^{\nu} \ge 0, \tag{A.5}$$

where  $N^{\mu}N_{\mu} = 0$ , on the Einstein equations  $G_{\mu\nu} = T_{\mu\nu}$  to derive constraints on the metric functions A(r), B(r), f(r). Choosing

$$N^{t} = \frac{1}{e^{A+B}\sqrt{f}}, \quad N^{r} = \frac{\sqrt{f}}{e^{A}}\cos\varphi, \quad N^{x} = \frac{1}{e^{A}}\sin\varphi, \tag{A.6}$$

where  $\theta$  is an arbitrary constant, we get the constraints

$$f(A'^{2} + A'B' - A'') \ge 0$$
  
$$(dA' + 3B')f' + 2f(dA'B' + B'^{2} + B'') + f'' \ge 0$$
 (A.7)

from  $\varphi = 0$  and  $\varphi = \frac{\pi}{2}$  respectively.

# **B** Massive propagators for general geodesics

We consider the action

$$S = -m \int dr \, r^{-(d-\theta)/d} \sqrt{r^{-2(z-1)} \dot{\tau}^2 + \dot{r}^2 + \dot{x}^2} \tag{B.1}$$

where we have set  $\lambda = r$  and  $\tau = it$  in equation (2.10), this time for both  $|\Delta x|$  and  $|\Delta \tau|$  nonzero. The integrated  $x, \tau$  equations of motion define two conserved momenta:

$$\Pi_{x} = \frac{r^{-(d-\theta)/d}\dot{x}}{\sqrt{1+\dot{x}^{2}+r^{-2(z-1)}\dot{\tau}^{2}}},$$

$$\Pi_{\tau} = \frac{r^{-(d-\theta)/d}r^{-2(z-1)}\dot{\tau}}{\sqrt{1+\dot{x}^{2}+r^{-2(z-1)}\dot{\tau}^{2}}}.$$
(B.2)

We can use these to rewrite  $\dot{x}, \dot{\tau}$  in terms of r and  $\Pi_x, \Pi_\tau$ :

$$\frac{dx}{dr} = \Pi_x \frac{r^{-(z-1)}}{\sqrt{r^{-2(z-\theta/d)} - \Pi_x^2 r^{-2(z-1)} - \Pi_\tau^2}}$$
(B.3)

and

$$\frac{d\tau}{dr} = \Pi_{\tau} \frac{r^{(z-1)}}{\sqrt{r^{-2(z-\theta/d)} - \Pi_x^2 r^{-2(z-1)} - \Pi_\tau^2}}.$$
(B.4)

Also, using the fact that at the turning point dr/dx,  $dr/d\tau = 0$ , we can derive a relationship between  $r_t$ ,  $\Pi_x$ ,  $\Pi_\tau$ ,

$$r_t^{-2(z-\theta/d)} - \Pi_x^2 r_t^{-2(z-1)} - \Pi_\tau^2 = 0.$$
(B.5)

Plugging equations (B.3) and (B.4) back into the action, we get an expression for the total geodesic distance,

$$S = -m \int dr \, \frac{r^{2\theta/d-z-1}}{\sqrt{r^{-2(z-\theta/d)} - \Pi_x^2 r^{-2(z-1)} - \Pi_\tau^2}} \tag{B.6}$$

as a function of the conserved momenta. Equations (B.3), (B.4) and (B.6) can in principle be solved numerically for particular values of the critical exponents in order to find  $|\Delta x|$ ,  $|\Delta \tau|$ , and S respectively in terms of  $\Pi_x$ ,  $\Pi_\tau$  and the turning point  $r_t$ . These solutions, along with the constraint equation (B.5) can be used to find  $S(\Delta x, \Delta \tau)$ . **Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

# References

- [1] G. 't Hooft, Dimensional reduction in quantum gravity, gr-qc/9310026 [INSPIRE].
- [2] L. Susskind, The World as a hologram, J. Math. Phys. 36 (1995) 6377 [hep-th/9409089]
   [INSPIRE].
- [3] J.M. Maldacena, The large-N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 38 (1999) 1113 [Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 231]
   [hep-th/9711200] [INSPIRE].
- [4] S. Gubser, I.R. Klebanov and A.M. Polyakov, Gauge theory correlators from noncritical string theory, Phys. Lett. B 428 (1998) 105 [hep-th/9802109] [INSPIRE].
- [5] E. Witten, Anti-de Sitter space and holography, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 253 [hep-th/9802150] [INSPIRE].
- [6] O. Aharony, S.S. Gubser, J.M. Maldacena, H. Ooguri and Y. Oz, Large-N field theories, string theory and gravity, Phys. Rept. 323 (2000) 183 [hep-th/9905111] [INSPIRE].
- S. Kachru, X. Liu and M. Mulligan, Gravity duals of Lifshitz-like fixed points, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 106005 [arXiv:0808.1725] [INSPIRE].
- [8] M. Taylor, Non-relativistic holography, arXiv:0812.0530 [INSPIRE].
- [9] D. Son, Toward an AdS/cold atoms correspondence: a geometric realization of the Schrödinger symmetry, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 046003 [arXiv:0804.3972] [INSPIRE].
- [10] K. Balasubramanian and J. McGreevy, Gravity duals for non-relativistic CFTs, Phys. Rev. Lett. 101 (2008) 061601 [arXiv:0804.4053] [INSPIRE].
- [11] S.A. Hartnoll, J. Polchinski, E. Silverstein and D. Tong, Towards strange metallic holography, JHEP 04 (2010) 120 [arXiv:0912.1061] [INSPIRE].
- [12] K. Balasubramanian and K. Narayan, Lifshitz spacetimes from AdS null and cosmological solutions, JHEP 08 (2010) 014 [arXiv:1005.3291] [INSPIRE].
- [13] A. Donos and J.P. Gauntlett, Lifshitz solutions of D = 10 and D = 11 supergravity, JHEP 12 (2010) 002 [arXiv:1008.2062] [INSPIRE].
- [14] R. Gregory, S.L. Parameswaran, G. Tasinato and I. Zavala, *Lifshitz solutions in supergravity and string theory*, *JHEP* 12 (2010) 047 [arXiv:1009.3445] [INSPIRE].
- [15] A. Donos, J.P. Gauntlett, N. Kim and O. Varela, Wrapped M5-branes, consistent truncations and AdS/CMT, JHEP 12 (2010) 003 [arXiv:1009.3805] [INSPIRE].
- [16] D. Cassani and A.F. Faedo, Constructing Lifshitz solutions from AdS, JHEP 05 (2011) 013 [arXiv:1102.5344] [INSPIRE].
- [17] N. Halmagyi, M. Petrini and A. Zaffaroni, Non-relativistic solutions of N = 2 gauged supergravity, JHEP 08 (2011) 041 [arXiv:1102.5740] [INSPIRE].
- [18] B. Gouteraux and E. Kiritsis, Generalized holographic quantum criticality at finite density, JHEP 12 (2011) 036 [arXiv:1107.2116] [INSPIRE].

- [19] S.S. Gubser and F.D. Rocha, Peculiar properties of a charged dilatonic black hole in AdS<sub>5</sub>, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 046001 [arXiv:0911.2898] [INSPIRE].
- [20] K. Goldstein, S. Kachru, S. Prakash and S.P. Trivedi, Holography of charged dilaton black holes, JHEP 08 (2010) 078 [arXiv:0911.3586] [INSPIRE].
- M. Cadoni, G. D'Appollonio and P. Pani, Phase transitions between Reissner-Nordstrom and dilatonic black holes in 4D AdS spacetime, JHEP 03 (2010) 100 [arXiv:0912.3520]
   [INSPIRE].
- [22] M. Cadoni and P. Pani, Holography of charged dilatonic black branes at finite temperature, JHEP 04 (2011) 049 [arXiv:1102.3820] [INSPIRE].
- [23] C. Charmousis, B. Gouteraux, B. Kim, E. Kiritsis and R. Meyer, Effective holographic theories for low-temperature condensed matter systems, JHEP 11 (2010) 151 [arXiv:1005.4690] [INSPIRE].
- [24] E. Perlmutter, Domain wall holography for finite temperature scaling solutions, JHEP 02 (2011) 013 [arXiv:1006.2124] [INSPIRE].
- [25] G. Bertoldi, B.A. Burrington and A.W. Peet, Thermal behavior of charged dilatonic black branes in AdS and UV completions of Lifshitz-like geometries, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 106013 [arXiv:1007.1464] [INSPIRE].
- [26] G. Bertoldi, B.A. Burrington, A.W. Peet and I.G. Zadeh, Lifshitz-like black brane thermodynamics in higher dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 126006 [arXiv:1101.1980]
   [INSPIRE].
- [27] K. Goldstein et al., Holography of dyonic dilaton black branes, JHEP 10 (2010) 027
   [arXiv:1007.2490] [INSPIRE].
- [28] N. Iizuka, N. Kundu, P. Narayan and S.P. Trivedi, Holographic Fermi and non-Fermi liquids with transitions in dilaton gravity, JHEP 01 (2012) 094 [arXiv:1105.1162] [INSPIRE].
- [29] P. Berglund, J. Bhattacharyya and D. Mattingly, Charged dilatonic AdS black branes in arbitrary dimensions, arXiv:1107.3096 [INSPIRE].
- [30] N. Ogawa, T. Takayanagi and T. Ugajin, Holographic Fermi surfaces and entanglement entropy, JHEP 01 (2012) 125 [arXiv:1111.1023] [INSPIRE].
- [31] L. Huijse, S. Sachdev and B. Swingle, Hidden Fermi surfaces in compressible states of gauge-gravity duality, Phys. Rev. B 85 (2012) 035121 [arXiv:1112.0573] [INSPIRE].
- [32] E. Shaghoulian, Holographic entanglement entropy and Fermi surfaces, JHEP 05 (2012) 065
   [arXiv:1112.2702] [INSPIRE].
- [33] S.A. Hartnoll and A. Tavanfar, Electron stars for holographic metallic criticality, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 046003 [arXiv:1008.2828] [INSPIRE].
- [34] S.A. Hartnoll and P. Petrov, Electron star birth: a continuous phase transition at nonzero density, Phys. Rev. Lett. 106 (2011) 121601 [arXiv:1011.6469] [INSPIRE].
- [35] S.A. Hartnoll, D.M. Hofman and D. Vegh, Stellar spectroscopy: Fermions and holographic Lifshitz criticality, JHEP 08 (2011) 096 [arXiv:1105.3197] [INSPIRE].
- [36] I. Heemskerk and J. Polchinski, Holographic and wilsonian renormalization groups, JHEP 06 (2011) 031 [arXiv:1010.1264] [INSPIRE]. T. Faulkner, H. Liu and M. Rangamani, Integrating out geometry: holographic wilsonian RG and the membrane paradigm, JHEP 08 (2011) 051 [arXiv:1010.4036] [INSPIRE].

- [37] D.S. Fisher, Scaling and critical slowing down in random-field Ising systems, Phys. Rev. Lett. **56** (1986) 416 [INSPIRE].
- [38] J. Eisert, M. Cramer and M. Plenio, Area laws for the entanglement entropy A review, Rev. Mod. Phys. 82 (2010) 277 [arXiv:0808.3773] [INSPIRE].
- [39] L. Bombelli, R.K. Koul, J. Lee and R.D. Sorkin, A quantum source of entropy for black holes, Phys. Rev. D 34 (1986) 373 [INSPIRE].
- [40] M. Srednicki, Entropy and area, Phys. Rev. Lett. **71** (1993) 666 [hep-th/9303048] [INSPIRE].
- [41] C. Holzhey, F. Larsen and F. Wilczek, Geometric and renormalized entropy in conformal field theory, Nucl. Phys. B 424 (1994) 443 [hep-th/9403108] [INSPIRE].
- [42] M.M. Wolf, Violation of the entropic area law for Fermions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96 (2006) 010404 [quant-ph/0503219] [INSPIRE].
- [43] D. Gioev and I. Klich, Entanglement entropy of fermions in any dimension and the Widom conjecture, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96 (2006) 100503 [INSPIRE].
- [44] B. Swingle, Entanglement entropy and the Fermi surface, arXiv:0908.1724 [INSPIRE].
- [45] Y. Zhang, T. Grover and A. Vishwanath, Entanglement entropy of critical spin liquids, Phys. Rev. Lett. 107 (2011) 067202.
- [46] A. Kitaev and J. Preskill, Topological entanglement entropy, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96 (2006) 110404 [hep-th/0510092] [INSPIRE].
- [47] M. Levin and X.-G. Wen, Detecting topological order in a ground state wave function, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96 (2006) 110405 [INSPIRE].
- [48] S. Ryu and T. Takayanagi, Holographic derivation of entanglement entropy from AdS/CFT, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96 (2006) 181602 [hep-th/0603001] [INSPIRE].
- [49] B. Swingle and T. Senthil, Universal crossovers between entanglement entropy and thermal entropy, arXiv:1112.1069 [INSPIRE].
- [50] N. Itzhaki, J.M. Maldacena, J. Sonnenschein and S. Yankielowicz, Supergravity and the large-N limit of theories with sixteen supercharges, Phys. Rev. D 58 (1998) 046004 [hep-th/9802042] [INSPIRE].
- [51] J.L. Barbon and C.A. Fuertes, Holographic entanglement entropy probes (non)locality, JHEP 04 (2008) 096 [arXiv:0803.1928] [INSPIRE].
- [52] A.W. Peet and J. Polchinski, UV/IR relations in AdS dynamics, Phys. Rev. D 59 (1999) 065011 [hep-th/9809022] [INSPIRE].
- [53] C. Hoyos and P. Koroteev, On the null energy condition and causality in Lifshitz holography, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 084002 [Erratum ibid. D 82 (2010) 109905] [arXiv:1007.1428] [INSPIRE].
- [54] L. Susskind and E. Witten, The holographic bound in Anti-de Sitter space, hep-th/9805114
   [INSPIRE].
- [55] J.D. Brown and J.W. York, Quasilocal energy and conserved charges derived from the gravitational action, Phys. Rev. D 47 (1993) 1407 [gr-qc/9209012] [INSPIRE].
- [56] V. Balasubramanian and P. Kraus, A stress tensor for Anti-de Sitter gravity, Commun. Math. Phys. 208 (1999) 413 [hep-th/9902121] [INSPIRE].

- [57] G.T. Horowitz and R.C. Myers, The AdS/CFT correspondence and a new positive energy conjecture for general relativity, Phys. Rev. D 59 (1998) 026005 [hep-th/9808079]
   [INSPIRE].
- [58] R.C. Myers, Stress tensors and Casimir energies in the AdS/CFT correspondence, Phys. Rev. D 60 (1999) 046002 [hep-th/9903203] [INSPIRE].
- [59] R. Emparan, C.V. Johnson and R.C. Myers, Surface terms as counterterms in the AdS/CFT correspondence, Phys. Rev. D 60 (1999) 104001 [hep-th/9903238] [INSPIRE].
- [60] X. Dong, B. Horn, S. Matsuura, E. Silverstein and G. Torroba, FRW solutions and holography from uplifted AdS/CFT, arXiv:1108.5732 [INSPIRE].
- [61] W. Li and T. Takayanagi, *Holography and entanglement in flat spacetime*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **106** (2011) 141301 [arXiv:1010.3700] [INSPIRE].
- [62] A.W. Peet, TASI lectures on black holes in string theory, hep-th/0008241 [INSPIRE].
- [63] D.S. Fisher and D.A. Huse, Ordered phase of short-range Ising spin-glasses, Phys. Rev. Lett. 56 (1986) 1601 [INSPIRE].
- [64] S. Kachru, A. Karch and S. Yaida, Holographic lattices, dimers and glasses, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 026007 [arXiv:0909.2639] [INSPIRE].
- [65] A. Adams and S. Yaida, Disordered holographic systems I: functional renormalization, arXiv:1102.2892 [INSPIRE].
- [66] F. Denef, TASI lectures on complex structures, arXiv:1104.0254 [INSPIRE].
- [67] D. Anninos, T. Anous, J. Barandes, F. Denef and B. Gaasbeek, Hot halos and galactic glasses, JHEP 01 (2012) 003 [arXiv:1108.5821] [INSPIRE].
- [68] K. Skenderis, Lecture notes on holographic renormalization, Class. Quant. Grav. 19 (2002) 5849 [hep-th/0209067] [INSPIRE].
- [69] L. Huijse and K. Schoutens, Superfrustration of charge degrees of freedom, Eur. Phys. J. B 64 (2008) 543 [arXiv:0709.4120].
- [70] L. Huijse and K. Schoutens, Quantum phases of supersymmetric lattice models, in XVIth International Congress on Mathematical Physics, P. Exner ed., World Scientific, Singapore (2010), arXiv:0910.2386.
- [71] L. Huijse and B. Swingle, private communication.
- [72] L. Huijse and B. Swingle, Area law violations in a supersymmetric model, arXiv:1202.2367 [INSPIRE].